

The Promise of Personalized Learning in Rural America

Carolyn Chuong and Jennifer O'Neal Schiess



Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Student Outcomes in Rural America	5
Applications of Personalized Learning in Rural Schools	9
Potential Benefits of Personalized Learning to Rural Students and Schools	14
Current Barriers to Implementing Personalized Learning in Rural Schools	19
Recommendations for Policymakers	26
Recommendations for Rural School and District Leadership	30
Conclusion	33
Case Studies: Early Rural Adopters of Personalized Learning	
Uinta County School District #1, Wyoming	35
Piedmont City Schools, Alabama	38
Deer Isle-Stonington County School District, Maine	41
Endnotes	44
Acknowledgments	48
About the Authors	49

Introduction

n 2009 in a very rural community off the coast of Maine, students were dropping out of high school at an alarming rate. Deer Isle, Maine is home to a thriving fishing and lobster industry, and there is the sense there that one doesn't need formal education credentials to make a good living. Facing the lowest graduation rate in the state—only 57 percent graduated that year—Todd West, the principal of Deer Isle-Stonington High School, saw an urgent need to increase the relevance of school for his students. Weighing a number of school improvement strategies, West began to explore an approach called "personalized learning," which seemed to hold great promise for improving student engagement.

Since then, Deer Isle-Stonington High School has launched a marine studies learning pathway geared toward students who might otherwise be tempted to drop out and go into lobster fishing full time. Three teachers co-teach the marine studies pathway class in the afternoon, continually grouping and re-grouping the students based on their academic gaps and individual pace of progress. As part of the pathway, students can enroll in a new U.S. history course framed around New England fisheries or work on credit-bearing projects with fishing-related businesses and tradespeople in the community. Early results from Deer Isle-Stonington's model are encouraging: Graduation rates rose dramatically, exceeding 90 percent as of 2012,¹ academic performance is better, and—based on attendance and disciplinary outcomes—students appear to be more engaged.²

Around the country, a small but growing number of schools and districts are leveraging personalized learning models to create more innovative and effective learning experiences

for students. Personalized learning is a broad term referring to instruction customized to meet a student's individual skill level, learning style, and interests through differentiated learning environments—and often through the smart use of technology. Although personalized learning is gaining traction, efforts to develop high-quality personalized learning models have largely been concentrated in urban schools. Deer Isle-Stonington is a rare example of a rural school that has both the interest and capacity required to implement personalized learning. For most of the nearly one in five students attending rural schools in America, the schooling experience has yet to embrace these promising innovations in teaching and learning.

This is a missed opportunity for rural schools, where many students face bleak postsecondary outcomes. While some of their challenges are similar to those in the urban context, rural schools also confront a number of unique issues: geographic isolation, human capital shortages, and a rapidly changing economy. Personalized learning could help overcome some of these challenges—both those common across geographies and those specific to the rural space—by increasing student access to teachers and specialized coursework and deepening the connections between K–12 schooling and postsecondary opportunities. However, the approach to personalized learning will require thoughtful tailoring, community input, and appropriate policy conditions in order to truly meet the needs of rural students and educators. And though rural personalized learning pioneers are few and most are in the earlier stages of implementation, they do show what can be possible.

This paper explores applications of personalized learning in rural schools, discusses and proposes solutions to the practical and policy barriers to implementation, and shares lessons learned from early adopters of personalized learning in rural schools.

Personalized learning could help overcome some of these challenges—both those common across geographies and those specific to the rural space by increasing student access to teachers and specialized coursework and deepening the connections between K–12 schooling and postsecondary opportunities.

Student Outcomes in Rural America

R ural schools serve 18 percent of all students in America.³ These schools play a vital role in the rural landscape by not only educating youth but also contributing to the social fabric of a community. Schools often act as a physical hub for cultural and athletic events, connect the community to health and other social services, and even serve as shelter during natural disasters.⁴ In many ways, they both reflect and foster the social capital and interconnectedness of rural areas.

Despite their centrality to the community, rural schools face profound challenges that are often distinct from the pressing needs of urban schools. In sprawling, sparsely populated communities, students face a number of barriers around transportation and infrastructure. Geographically isolated students must take long bus rides to get to and from school, time that could otherwise be spent interacting with teachers, peers, and their families. At the systems level, districts spend a higher proportion of their total budget on school transportation compared to non-rural areas, just one example of the economies-of-scale challenges of small, remote schools.⁵ Technology infrastructure is also a challenge: While wireless connectivity in rural schools is improving, connection speeds are often slow, and schools sometimes don't have enough devices to serve students.⁶ Students may not have internet access at home either—only 55 percent of rural residents have broadband access at home compared to 67 percent in urban areas and 70 percent in suburban regions—restricting their ability to leverage online academic resources and connect with the broader world.

These infrastructure challenges don't only affect students—they also have significant human capital implications for rural school districts in attracting and retaining talent.⁷ Potential teaching applicants may have concerns about the rural lifestyle, long commute times, and

Schools both reflect and foster the social capital and interconnectedness of rural areas. isolation from cultural amenities available in more populated areas.⁸ As a result, many rural schools and districts must contend with small talent pools and staffing shortages.

These staffing shortages create enormous challenges for schools. Rural teachers sometimes have to teach multiple subjects and grades, which means there's a lower likelihood they're highly qualified across all of their subjects.⁹ A recent study by University of Virginia researcher Daniel Player concluded that rural schools are also more likely to have vacancies in science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) teaching positions compared to urban teacher labor markets.¹⁰ Lack of scale, in terms of both student enrollment and total number of schools in rural districts, exacerbates these recruitment challenges. Districts serving a small student body may not be able to justify hiring a full-time teacher for a highly specialized subject that only a small subset of students may want to take—such as AP Computer Science—even if they can find a qualified candidate for that position.

Together, these barriers may contribute to weak academic outcomes among rural students. Although rural students perform slightly better on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), a nationally representative learning assessment, than urban students do, their overall proficiency rates are low: In 2015 only one-third of eighth-grade rural students were proficient in math or reading (Figure 1). And troublingly, eighth-grade math and reading proficiency rates fell between three and four percentage points from 2013 to 2015 (Figure 2). While this decline reflects a broader national trend, the drop among rural students was greater than that among students in cities and suburbs.¹¹



Source: National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), www.nationsreportcard.gov



NAEP Proficiency Among Rural Students in Grade 8, 2007–15

Source: National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), www.nationsreportcard.gov

Federal data from the 2011–12 school year indicate that 47 percent of rural districts in the country did not have even a single student enrolled in Advanced Placement (AP) coursework.

Figure 2

Standardized assessments aside, rural students are also less likely to engage with rigorous coursework at the high school level. For example, data suggest they enroll in advanced math, algebra II, and calculus courses at lower rates compared to their urban peers.¹² And federal data from the 2011–12 school year indicate that 47 percent of rural districts in the country did not have even a *single* student enrolled in Advanced Placement (AP) coursework. In contrast, less than three percent of urban districts had no students taking AP coursework that same year.¹³ Lack of rigorous high school coursework has real implications for the ability of rural students to build the academic foundation they need to succeed in college.

Many rural students face limited college and career prospects after completing their K–12 schooling, despite strong high school graduation rates. On average, rural areas actually boast significantly higher graduation rates than big cities. National data from the 2009–10 school year indicate that 81 percent of rural students graduate from high school, compared to 71 percent of their peers in big cities (Figure 3).¹⁴ Even with increased likelihood for high school graduation, rural students are less likely to attend college. About one-third matriculate in college, compared to nearly half of students in urban communities.¹⁵ Poor rural students are at especially great risk: Only 28 percent enroll in a four-year institution immediately after high school.¹⁶ Complex underlying factors are at play, some of which may not relate to a student's academic skill set or economic background. A national survey of nearly 5,000 rural youth found that students with a stronger sense of a rural identity and positive perceptions of their local economy were less likely to aspire to a postsecondary education.¹⁷ These results could indicate that some rural students perceive a difficult trade-off as they near the end of their K–12 schooling—that going to college might mean giving up their rural roots.



Source: National Center for Education Statistics, Common Core of Data, https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/

Those who don't attend college enter a rural job market that has changed dramatically over time and reflects the impact of rural to urban population migration, particularly among higher-skilled workers. Career options in rural areas have become less straightforward as traditional agriculture, manufacturing, and mining opportunities—once the backbone of rural economies—have declined.¹⁸ Piedmont, Alabama offers just one example. According to Matt Akin, the superintendent of Piedmont City Schools, the town has struggled since two major employers left. He notes, "The economic outlook for our students is pretty bleak. Our economy was based on textiles, but those jobs have been gone for over a decade."¹⁹

Many young people now flock to cities to find jobs and, for the first time in this country's history, rural America's population is declining.²⁰ Worse yet, students who leave their communities to go to college or pursue careers in more urban regions contribute to overall lower rates of educational attainment in rural areas. This "hollowing out" phenomenon results in a lower-skilled workforce in rural areas, which exacerbates economic challenges for individuals and for communities seeking to attract new employers.²¹

Rural communities and schools have leveraged technology and other strategies to try to improve prospects for rural students. But many of these efforts derive from the need to address specific operational challenges, such as a teacher shortage in a required subject or the desire to offer a particular course through an online platform, and few begin with a more holistic assessment of students' short- and long-term learning needs to create a truly integrated instructional approach.

Applications of Personalized Learning in Rural Schools

Since as early as the mid-1990s, education researchers and practitioners have advocated for the use of online and distance learning to offer more varied coursework to students. However, while these strategies can help address teacher shortages and increase course access, they don't provide instruction that is truly tailored to each student's needs. n the face of these longstanding and emerging challenges, rural schools need to develop creative strategies to dramatically accelerate student academic achievement, engagement, and ability to succeed after graduation. The use of technology, which is not in itself personalized learning, has been heralded as a potential solution to maximize student learning. In fact, discussions around the potential of technology in rural schools are not new. Since as early as the mid-1990s, education researchers and practitioners have advocated for the use of online and distance learning to offer more varied coursework to students.²² However, while these strategies can help address teacher shortages and increase course access, they don't provide instruction that is truly tailored to each student's needs. And without personal interaction with a teacher, online learning can feel deeply impersonal for students.

A more nuanced strategy is personalized learning, which can—but doesn't necessarily have to—utilize technology. Personalized learning models redesign educational experiences to meet individual student needs by shifting how, when, and where students learn. While there are many ways to explain personalized learning, a working definition developed by a coalition of educators, philanthropic groups, and education policy groups describes personalized learning as a model grounded in four pillars²³ (Figure 4):

- 1 Learner profiles: Each student has an up-to-date individual profile of his or her academic needs, strengths, and goals that teachers use to inform their instructional planning.
- 2 Personal learning paths: While all students are held to high expectations, each individual has a customized learning pathway based on academic goals and progress.

- 3 Competency-based progression: Students advance from one academic unit to the next, or even one grade to the next, based on whether they demonstrate proficiency in common standards—not based on how much time they've spent in the classroom.
- 4 Flexible learning environments: Learning experiences, including when and where students learn, are based on students' needs. Students learn academic content through a variety of instructional modalities such as direct teacher instruction, peer group collaboration, online learning, and internships.

Figure 4

Overview of a Working Definition of Personalized Learning

LEARNER PROFILES

- Student has a learning plan that takes strengths, needs, and goals into account
- May employ formative assessment, feedback from tech-based applications, and teacher professional judgment

PERSONAL LEARNING PATHS

- Varied learning experiences and instructional modalities tailored to student needs and interests
- Software algorithms can help determine personalized lesson content or pacing
- Students have ownership to manage own learning path

PERSONALIZED LEARNING

COMPETENCY-BASED PROGRESSION

- Content and pace of lesson is determined based on mastery, which may be assessed by software algorithms or more traditional modes of assesssment
- Groupings for small group instruction are based on on ability and are fluid based on student progress

FLEXIBLE LEARNING ENVIRONMENTS

- Teaching incorporates multiple modes of instruction: teacher-led, small group, and technology-based
- Students may engage in apprenticeships, project-based learning, or virtual instruction
- Design of physical space supports instruction

Sources: Working definition developed by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Afton Partners, the Eli and Edythe Broad Foundation, CEE Trust, the Christensen Institute for Disruptive Innovation, Charter School Growth Fund, EDUCAUSE, iNACOL, the Learning Accelerator, the Michael & Susan Dell Foundation, Silicon Schools, and educators

A personalized learning environment does not always require sophisticated technology. However, technology can amplify the benefits of personalized learning for students. The customization of each student's learning experience—coupled with the expectation that students take ownership over their learning—has prompted advocates to describe personalized learning as a student-centered approach. Unlike blended learning or digital instruction (see Sidebar 1: What Does it all Mean: Personalized, Blended, Online?), a personalized learning environment does not always require sophisticated technology. However, technology can amplify the benefits of personalized learning for students. Adaptive software programs, for instance, analyze user responses to modify instructional content based on what students do and do not currently understand.

Those who support personalized learning believe this approach helps educators better identify each student's needs, address those needs, and ensure that students are engaged. By tracking student outcomes in real time, teachers make instructional decisions based on

Sidebar 1

What Does it all Mean: Personalized, Blended, Online?

Terms for nuanced modes of applying technology in education get bandied about interchangeably, and it is not always clear what they mean, leading to confusion and misunderstanding. And definitions of these terms are not settled—making it challenging to communicate a coherent vision of what students' experience with a given model looks like.

For this report, we've defined **personalized learning** as an approach to teaching and learning based on the principles described in Figure 4 that *may or may not* incorporate one or more modes of technology-based instruction, such as those described below.

Blended learning refers to instruction delivered through a combination of in-person teacher-facilitated instruction typically delivered in a school environment and technology-based instruction that may be pursued based on the student's preferred pace, timing, and location.ⁱ

Online learning or distance learning refers to instruction delivered exclusively through a technology-based platform, with technology-assisted personal interaction with an instructor and, perhaps, other students required. This model effectively removes a student's geographic location as a factor in course access, relying on technology to facilitate interaction between the student and the content, the instructor, and other students.¹

Other digital or technology-based learning models rely entirely on a student accessing content through software with no interaction with an instructor or classmates.

i "Blended Learning Definitions," Clay Christensen Institute for Disruptive Education, accessed September 16, 2016, http://www.christenseninstitute.org/blended-learning-definitions-and-models/ student need. And learner profiles enable multiple educators and school leaders to follow how well each student is doing across multiple metrics—providing far more comprehensive information than they would have with infrequent summative assessments alone.

The evidence base on student outcomes associated with personalized learning is small but growing. In 2015 the RAND Corporation, with support from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, released a quasi-experimental study of 62 traditional district and charter schools that have implemented personalized learning. Elementary and middle school students in the study made statistically significant gains on NWEA math and reading assessments compared to peers with similar backgrounds attending schools that weren't utilizing personalized learning practices.²⁴ Early case studies of three charter schools—KIPP Empower, Summit Public Schools, and the Alliance College-Ready Public Schools—found that transitioning to a personalized learning model appeared to boost student engagement, based on parent and teacher observations as well as student feedback.²⁵

Despite the potential of personalized learning and technology to improve student outcomes, adoption is uneven across American schools and concentrated in urban communities. The role of charter schools in the increasing popularity of personalized learning can partially help to explain this trend. Because charter schools have significant autonomy from some state and local regulations, they have historically been at the forefront of personalized learning and education innovation more broadly. But because charter schools are also largely an urban phenomenon, the innovations they develop around teaching and learning have not reached rural communities to the same extent. And in some cases, innovations born in the urban charter school environment—such as those that require advanced technology infrastructure—do not translate well to the rural context. External support for the design and implementation of personalized learning is another factor. Most early investments from funders at the forefront of personalized learning have focused primarily on urban settings.

This uneven adoption means that students in rural areas are not leveraging the potential benefits of personalized learning. Although the concept is almost unheard of in many rural communities, many of the core elements of this approach are not. For many years, rural communities have sought to expand access to specialized or college-level coursework, increase student engagement through differentiated instruction, and even use technology to expand opportunities for students. Bringing these levers together under a personalized learning framework could allow each strategy to build off one another, leading to improved outcomes at both the student and systems level. Without coordinating these efforts under a common framework, schools may only improve discrete pieces of the student learning experience or develop short-term fixes to staffing challenges. Fully cracking the potential benefits of the personalized learning framework requires integrating the approach by using data to guide decisions on how to meet the needs of individual students, providing

Although the concept is almost unheard of in many rural communities, many of the core elements of this approach are not. For many years, rural communities have sought to expand access to specialized or collegelevel coursework, increase student engagement through differentiated instruction, and even use technology to expand opportunities for students. flexible and varied opportunities for learning, and letting student mastery set the pace of progression through content. In that integrated scenario, educational technology may not look merely like select students taking an advanced course online when no teacher is available. Instead, it may mean that all math students work with teachers in smaller groups for a portion of instruction and engage in practice sessions supervised by a paraprofessional or guided by adaptive software. The teacher takes output from those practice sessions and adjusts her direct instruction accordingly, reteaching where needed and advancing students who are ready to move on. The hope is that under the integrated scenario, not only might students gain access to advanced content through online courses, but more students might be prepared to engage in those opportunities.

Potential Benefits of Personalized Learning to Rural Students and Schools

he hallmark features of personalized learning could drive improved outcomes for students in rural schools, just as in other settings, and could help address some of the particular infrastructure and systemic challenges rural schools face.

1 Instruction tailored to students' current academic levels and needs can help them catch up and excel.

By providing more differentiated instruction and competency-based progression based on students' individual academic proficiency, personalized learning can potentially advance student learning and close achievement gaps. Challenges around achievement gaps and lackluster student achievement are not unique to rural schools. But personalized learning has yet to permeate the rural education landscape as a strategy for addressing those challenges.

Schools can provide more differentiated instruction based on students' current academic proficiency in two ways. First, students can receive more intensive small group, or even one-on-one, instruction from teachers if some of their peers are spending part of the class or school day in different learning groups. Under a "station rotation model," for instance, students rotate among multiple stations that each use a distinct instructional approach such as self-directed online learning, small group activities, targeted interventions (e.g., special education), and direct teacher-led instruction. Smaller groups enable teachers to address the specific academic needs of students and ensure that they can engage with each student on a more personal level. At Piedmont Middle School in Alabama, students rotate among working independently on online content, collaborating on team projects, and receiving individualized support from teachers.²⁶

By providing more differentiated instruction and competency-based progression based on students' individual academic proficiency, personalized learning can potentially advance student learning and close achievement gaps. Second, teachers serving students of varying skill levels—including those far behind grade level—can adopt high-quality adaptive learning software in their classrooms that will use data to provide instruction targeted at a student's starting point and pace of progress. These types of adaptive tools can also offer formative assessments to help teachers monitor student progress and identify gaps in real time. This data assists teachers in identifying places where students need more intensive instruction, allowing for responsive modification of instructional content and approach.

Differentiated and individualized instruction not only holds potential for students with learning deficits, but also can identify when students are ready to access more advanced learning opportunities.

2 Flexible learning environments and integrated technology can expand the breadth of learning options and address practical challenges related to human capital and infrastructure.

Personalized learning models can provide rural students with greater access to more specialized and advanced coursework that isn't offered through traditional course offerings at their schools. Previously, rural students had limited distance learning options, often through their state's single virtual school. Now, states are increasingly leveraging "Course Access" or "Course Choice" programs that allow students to take online, or even blended or in-person, courses from a much wider range of approved providers. In rural Louisiana, Winn Parish has historically had difficulties finding staff for Spanish and French courses, which students must take to be eligible for the state's public college scholarship program. Now students are taking online Spanish and French courses under the state's Course Access program.²⁷

Importantly, personalized learning models that utilize technology can also help students engage with the broader community and gain exposure to new ideas. For rural students who are geographically isolated and frequently come from low-income backgrounds, the costs of traveling outside of their community can be prohibitive. And the potential for direct exposure to a diverse spectrum of occupations and post-secondary opportunities may be diminished in rural settings.

Technology allows students to learn about professions that are less prevalent or nonexistent in their community; stay abreast of news in other countries in real time; and interact with peers who come from diverse racial, cultural, and religious backgrounds. Todd West, the principal of Deer Isle-Stonington High School, comments, "We are a tiny island off the coast of Maine. Not every resource will be a bus ride away. While there are great opportunities in our community, it's also helpful to connect our students to art museums in different places."²⁸ On the flip side, students in big cities can benefit by learning about the economic context, culture, and current-day realities of rural communities through increased communication with rural students.

Importantly, personalized learning models that utilize technology can also help students engage with the broader community and gain exposure to new ideas. Personalized learning has the potential to enable "anytime, anywhere" learning so that students have some instructional opportunities during which their presence is not required in the classroom. This is particularly important in areas where students must take very long bus rides to get to and from school. In addition, personalized learning has the potential to enable "anytime, anywhere" learning so that students have some instructional opportunities during which their presence is not required in the classroom. This is particularly important in areas where students must take very long bus rides to get to and from school. Some reports indicate bus rides in rural communities ranging from 30 minutes to more than an hour each way.²⁹ As such, flexible learning environments can help address very pragmatic infrastructure challenges unique to rural areas. For example, if students can spend a certain proportion of the school week learning through online coursework, independent projects, or a community-based internship closer to home, they can reduce the total number of hours spent in transit between home and school.

"Flexible learning environment" does not always have to translate to a technology-based alternative. Rural schools can create low-tech or no-tech learning environments through partnerships in the community, which provide students with opportunities and leverage community connections. In Deer Isle, the marine pathway program includes field-based learning projects with local fishermen and boat builders, where students engage in handson learning outside of the school building. Internships or project-based learning can take advantage of community expertise and resources and could also be applied to addressing community challenges; they need not require a technology-based application.

3 Increased access to post-secondary learning can improve students' preparation, both academically and socio-emotionally, for college.

In rural areas, students don't always have sufficient opportunities to explore potential postsecondary pathways after high school. This challenge is exacerbated by the changing economy and stagnant job outcomes in many rural areas, where traditional industries have disappeared or play an increasingly diminished role. Bryan Hassel, co-director of Public Impact, an education research and consulting firm, notes, "In the rural context, you've got some students who finish high school and go into a career in their community. But some students will want to go to college or move elsewhere to pursue a career. It's not a simple matter of training kids to work for one big plant. Personalization becomes the imperative." While many rural schools already offer programs for students to engage in college coursework or workforce learning, a personalized learning strategy can bring these approaches to the next level. For example, individual learner profiles that keep track of academic progress, learning styles, and career aspirations can better equip teachers to identify specific needs, target instruction to maximize preparedness for post-secondary opportunities, and help students determine which post-secondary learning opportunities could be the most relevant and beneficial.

Increased exposure to college coursework can become part of a personalized learning framework as well. As schools begin to offer more specialized and advanced coursework, and as students begin to advance more readily under a competency-based approach, there will be a growing need to provide access to college-level coursework. Through dual

The days when a high school diploma was enough are gone. If our students graduate high school with college credit, it gives them the sense that they can do college even if their parents didn't. -Superintendent Matt Akin enrollment programs—already popular in rural communities—students can earn college credit while still in high school by taking in-person courses at a local community college or university.³⁰ They may also take college-level coursework through online providers or comprehensive Course Choice programs. Piedmont City Schools in Alabama provides students with the flexibility to earn high school credit at the middle school level, and then college credit at the high school level. Superintendent Akin emphasizes, "The days when a high school diploma was enough are gone. If our students graduate high school with college credit, it gives them the sense that they can do college even if their parents didn't."³¹ There's an economic factor to consider as well: By taking college coursework earlier, high school students may be able to lower the future costs of a college tuition by transferring their completed college credits.

By engaging in rigorous college-level coursework early, rural students also build the independence needed to succeed in college—critical given the low college matriculation and persistence rates in rural areas. One rural school district on the border of Utah and Wyoming has adopted a personalized learning model to build a sense of self-direction and independence among its students. Former superintendent James Bailey of Uinta County School District #1 notes: "We create a co-dependent environment in K-12 schools where teachers direct kids. If we don't give our kids opportunities for independence, they'll get to college and be lost."³²

Rural schools can also introduce their students to possible career opportunities through project-based learning and internships. These approaches could link to a broader strategy to foster school and local industry partnerships. Students will be able to apply their classroom knowledge to a real-world setting and increase their workforce readiness. At the same time, local employers can help students develop the kinds of skills and competencies they want to see in future high school and college graduates.

4 By rethinking the roles of teachers and other educators, personalized learning can lead to more creative and effective human capital strategies for rural schools.

While students have the most to gain from a shift to personalized learning, schools and districts in rural areas can also benefit. Personalized learning can enable schools and districts, who continue to struggle with recruiting and hiring top teacher talent, to develop creative staffing strategies rather than relying exclusively on online and distance learning. Multiple instructional modalities commonly utilized in personalized learning models—direct instruction, small group, and tech-based learning—create opportunities to both extend the capacity, or "reach," of rural teachers and expand the range of teachers to which students and schools have access. Under a personalized learning model, the most effective teachers can actually serve a higher number of students if students spend part of their day in an online or blended learning environment. When using learning software, students often don't require intensive support from certified teachers. Instead, they can guide themselves in a self-directed manner or receive support from non-certified school

personnel such as paraprofessionals or community volunteers. These types of roles would supplement —not supplant—teachers. A more strategic deployment of certified teaching staff frees teachers to deliver instruction where their expertise and skills are essential to student learning, while other staff can monitor and support learning activities for which a teacher's expertise is less necessary. This strategy has financial benefits as well. Compared to certified teachers, the paraprofessional role is more cost-effective and easier to fill—this matters given how difficult it is for rural districts to attract talented teachers from beyond their community. "It's not about replacing teachers. But we could never afford all the teachers needed to meet our students' instructional needs," remarks Superintendent Akin from Piedmont City Schools.³³

Leveraging multiple instructional modalities as part of a broader personalized learning approach can also help rural districts deal with human capital emergencies or sudden shifts in personnel in real time. Dell City Independent School District, which serves 100 students in Dell City, Texas, offers one illustrative example. After the district's only secondary social studies teacher left in the middle of the year, all students in the district enrolled in an online social studies class through the Texas Virtual Academy Network, the state's Course Access program.³⁴ Without this option in place, students may have faced gaps in their social studies learning or had multiple substitute teachers.

Current Barriers to Implementing Personalized Learning in Rural Schools

hile applications of personalized learning in rural areas are promising, a path forward requires understanding current barriers in rural school systems and communities that could affect the future design and implementation of this type of model. Some of these barriers are also common in urban schools, while others are more pronounced or unique to the rural context.

Broadband Access and Infrastructure

In recent years, rural areas have made significant strides in increasing school access to wireless connectivity. The 2014 modernization of the federal E-rate program, which subsidizes telecommunications and internet costs in public schools, has played an instrumental role in improving school connectivity in high-need districts, including those in rural communities (see Sidebar 2, The Federal Communication Commission's Programs to Bridge the Digital Divide). As of 2015 rural students were as likely to be in school districts meeting federal bandwidth standards as their urban and suburban peers, according to national broadband advocacy group EducationSuperHighway.³⁵

While many rural districts are currently meeting minimum broadband standards, as technology evolves, rural districts may not be able to keep up due to a lack of the more sophisticated fiber-optic cable. Fiber-optic is the only technology considered fast and reliable enough to meet the quickly escalating bandwidth requirements for content

While many rural districts are currently meeting minimum broadband standards, as technology evolves, rural districts may not be able to keep up due to a lack of the more sophisticated fiber-optic cable. delivery (such as streaming video). Currently, 21 percent of rural districts lack fiber access compared to only five percent of urban districts (Figure 5). In Montana, where over a third of the students are rural, 35 percent of schools do not have the fiber infrastructure needed to meet bandwidth standards—the worst rate in the country.³⁶

Sidebar 2

The Federal Communication Commission's Programs to Bridge the Digital Divide

The ability for schools and students to leverage technology to increase education options depends on schools' and families' access to the level of connectivity required to support that technology. True integration of educational technology requires access both in school and at home—a significant challenge in many rural communities that may lack technology infrastructure and may be underserved by internet service providers.

The Federal Communications Commission (FCC), the federal agency that regulates telecommunications infrastructure and service nationwide and whose mission is to ensure universal accessibility of communications services, operates programs to address the accessibility of high-speed broadband internet service. These programs help rural schools and communities access the infrastructure and services vital to full participation in an increasingly technology-dependent world.

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 formally extended the FCC's goal of universal service from its focus on telephone service to include high-speed internet for all consumers and established four grant programs targeted at increasing access specifically for rural consumers, low-income consumers, and facilities such as schools, libraries, and rural health care facilities.^{1 ii}

E-rate: Universal Service for Schools and Libraries

Of the four programs, the schools and libraries universal service support program, commonly referred to as the E-rate program, most directly supports education-related technology infrastructure in rural communities. E-rate provides funding to offset the cost of building and maintaining infrastructure to support telecommunications services and broadband internet service, as well as the cost of the services themselves. The level of funding available to applicants varies with the economic conditions of the community the school or library serves as well as its location in an urban or rural area.^{III}

Continued on next page

Sidebar 2 continued

In recent years, the FCC adopted a set of funding and policy changes to the E-rate program, generally referred to as E-rate modernization. The FCC increased the overall funding cap for the program by \$1.5 billion annually, an increase of over 60 percent. And the FCC also increased flexibility regarding how schools and libraries can use program funds to facilitate a range of options for building infrastructure and procuring services, including:

- Clarifying rules to better facilitate purchases through school consortia
- Increasing transparency so that schools and libraries can better compare rates offered by service providers
- Providing more options for financing and constructing fiber networks
- Better supporting schools' internal Wi-Fi needs

The FCC also set new benchmarks for connection speeds for the immediate and longer term that align with the requirements of modern technology-based applications.^{iv v}

Connect America Fund and Lifeline

In addition to E-rate, two other FCC programs support the provision of broadband infrastructure in rural and remote communities and home access to broadband technology for low-income families. The Connect America Fund subsidizes telecommunications companies to provide infrastructure and service in rural and remote areas. The program aims to ensure universal access to broadband technology across the country and comparable rates for service across communities where little competition among carriers exists.^{vi vii}

The FCC also recently revamped the Lifeline program, which subsidizes the cost of telecommunications services for low-income households, to move beyond voice service and to include the provision of high-speed broadband infrastructure and service. These changes are intended to allow low-income Americans equitable access to technology and to close the "homework gap" created when students cannot access information or technology required to complete schoolwork at home.^{viii}

- i "Universal Service," Federal Communications Commission, accessed March 4, 2016, https://www.fcc.gov/general/universal-service
- ii "Contribution Methodology & Administrative Filings," Federal Communications Commission, accessed March 4, 2016, https://www.fcc.gov/general/contribution-methodology-administrative-filings
- iii "E-Rate—Schools & Libraries USF Program," U.S. Federal Communications Commission, accessed March 4, 2016, https://www.fcc.gov/general/e-rate-schools-libraries-usf-program
- iv Benjamin Herold and Sean Cavanagh, "E-Rate Undergoing Major Budget, Policy Upgrades: K-12 Digital Demand Fuels Modernization," Education Week, January 26, 2015, accessed April 4, 2016, http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2015/01/07/e-rate-undergoing-mEajorpolicy-budget-upgrades.html
- v FCC, Second Report and Order and Order on Reconsideration in the Matter of Modernizing the E-Rate Program for Schools and Libraries and the Connect America Fund (FCC 14-189), December 11, 2014: 1–5.
- vi Grant Gross, "FCC Vote to End Telephone Subsidies, Shift to Broadband," PC World, October 27, 2011, accessed April 6, 2016, http://www.pcworld.com/article/242713/fcc_votes_to_end_telephone_subsidies_shift_to_broadband.html
- vii "Wireline Competition Bureau Universal Service Implementation Report: WC Docket No.: 10-90," FCC, March 18, 2014: 1–5, accessed April 6, 2016, https://apps.fcc.gov/edocs_public/attachmatch/DOC-326217A1.pdf
- viii FCC, "FCC Modernizes Lifeline Program for the Digital Age: New Rules Will Help Make Broadband More Affordable for Low-Income Americans," March 31, 2016, accessed April 4, 2016, https://www.fcc.gov/document/fcc-modernizes-lifeline-program-digital-age

The biggest barrier to building out fiber infrastructure for rural schools is the lack of service providers. Because national carriers typically avoid serving rural areas, school districts have to rely on local internet providers who face little competition and can charge higher rates than in more competitive markets.³⁷ According to a 2015 nationally representative survey from the Consortium for School Networking, 54 percent of rural district leaders reported only one internet service provider in their area.³⁸ The cost of fiber construction is also prohibitive for many rural providers, who do not see enough demand from the community to justify the upfront investment.³⁹ "The challenge for rural America is the future. If we don't get affordable fiber out to those communities, they're going to get left behind," observes Evan Marwell, EducationSuperHighway's CEO.⁴⁰ For rural schools without adequate broadband access and technology infrastructure, the potential for personalized learning to dramatically shift the teaching and learning experience is limited.



Source: EducationSuperHighway

Another challenge is that the provisions of E-rate—a large-scale national program—may not go far enough to acknowledge the specific barriers rural districts may face. As just one example, districts are expected to contribute matching funds if they receive E-rate support—but rural and low-income districts often do not have adequate resources to do so.⁴¹ According to *The Anniston Star*, 91 districts in Alabama, or about two-thirds of all districts in the state, aren't able to raise the required matching funds to secure E-rate funding.⁴²

Improving internet access in schools also doesn't address the connectivity challenges students face at home. Based on 2015 data from the Pew Research Center, only 55 percent of rural residents have broadband access at home compared to the national average of 67 percent.⁴³ Without continued internet access after leaving school, rural students have challenges completing their homework or engaging in online instruction or other types of off-campus learning. While the lack of internet access is also a barrier in urban homes, particularly low-income ones, students living in cities have more options for getting online away from school. In densely populated areas, there are more community "hotspots" that offer free internet access—especially in places where families and students naturally gather, such as the local library or YMCA.⁴⁴

Staff Capacity and Change Management

The staff capacity required to design and implement personalized learning is significant. Schools and districts need to ensure that new models are aligned to curriculum and academic standards, procure effective products and software, and identify ways to assess the competencies students need to demonstrate to progress to the next level in their coursework. In rural districts with small central offices, educators at the school level are the ones most likely to shoulder these responsibilities. Given that schools already face staffing shortages, these new responsibilities can be daunting for teachers—perhaps more so than in urban districts where central office staff can provide operational and instructional support for personalized learning.

Another staff-related challenge relates to who can actually provide instruction in rural schools. In the face of significant staffing shortages, rural schools sometimes want or need to leverage the time and expertise of adults who aren't formally certified teachers. But under the previous federal No Child Left Behind law, there was little flexibility around who could and couldn't be a teacher of record. Non-certified adults who could guide student learning during internships, project-based learning opportunities, or digital learning time could not act as official teaching figures for students. While this is a challenge for many districts regardless of geography, it is especially pronounced in rural schools that depend on the valuable instruction and feedback non-certified teachers can provide to students.

A less tangible barrier is navigating resistance to change within schools and the broader community. Personalized learning can entail a transition away from traditional bell

The staff capacity required to design and implement personalized learning is significant. In rural districts with small central offices, educators at the school level are the ones most likely to shoulder these responsibilities. Without awareness and authentic buy-in from school leaders and teachers, personalized learning approaches will likely not take hold. schedules, a redesign of the physical classroom layout, and new expectations for the teacher role. With flexible learning pathways, students may have more opportunities to engage in learning outside of the school walls—potentially leading to shifts in the on-campus community and culture. Without awareness and authentic buy-in from school leaders and teachers, personalized learning approaches will likely not take hold.

Perceptions among the broader community matter as well. Keara Duggan, director of design and implementation at Education Elements—which provides technical assistance to schools implementing personalized learning—observes: "Many rural families have attended the same schools for generations, and we've seen some pushback from parents who don't understand why school is changing for their kids."⁴⁵ Duggan acknowledges that gaining buy-in for personalized learning in large cities can be challenging as well. However, she notes that the connectedness of rural areas—while clearly an enormous asset for these communities—can also make initiating change more difficult when traditional structures and roles are deeply entrenched in the culture of a place.⁴⁶

John Fischer, currently a senior program officer at the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, echoes Duggan's sentiments. While working at the Vermont Agency of Education to help the state implement policies conducive to personalized learning, he consistently faced challenges in gaining public support. He reflects, "For 10 years in Vermont, there was pushback from small schools, teachers, and unions who felt that technology would eliminate teachers. ... Or they would worry their school would be closed if students chose more pathways outside the traditional school building."⁴⁷ Making a case for the need for change and for engaging in the hard work of implementing a new instructional model to both the school staff and the broader community emerged as common components of the process of implementing personalized learning among the schools consulted for this report. And while those school leaders indicated strong community support for change—whether driven by poor student outcomes or engagement, or recognition of poor economic prospects for graduates—in each case, community voices were included early in implementation.

School and District Accountability

As personalized learning models have started to take hold, districts—including non-rural ones—have consistently cited current accountability systems as a pain point. Under a standards-based accountability approach, which was core to the previous federal No Child Left Behind law and remains the default model under its replacement, the Every Student Succeeds Act, students and schools are evaluated primarily based on whether they meet common grade-level expectations on annual state assessments. This approach of evaluating students aligns poorly with personalized learning models that emphasize flexible pathways. Under flexible pathways, students can demonstrate knowledge in a multitude of ways, which don't necessarily fit with standardized tests. Additionally, personalized learning calls for competency-based progression where students advance based on mastery of content at their own pace, which may be faster or slower than the traditional one-grade-per-schoolyear structure. As a result, the progress of learning under a personalized model can match poorly with a system of standardized summative assessments of content that students are "supposed" to learn in a given school year. Instead, personalized learning models advance students in a fluid manner by utilizing formative assessments—enabled by the use of adaptive learning software in real time—and performance-based assessments,⁴⁸ which are particularly important for learning that takes place outside of the classroom. As Karen Cator, CEO of Digital Promise, notes, "Although we have a lot more capacity to understand more about student learning, policies still favor standardized tests to the detriment of all other information."⁴⁹

State accountability systems also evaluate schools based on students' proficiency toward grade-level expectations, which doesn't fully capture the academic progress of students who start out far behind grade level. These are the very students who can reap significant benefits from a personalized learning approach that tailors instruction to a student's starting point and learning style. When all students have to take the same grade-level assessments, students who are very behind academically may not have an opportunity to show they've made significant academic growth. On the flip side, students who are more advanced cannot show the full range of their academic capabilities on a state test that only includes content calibrated to their grade level.

Funding Constraints

Funding constraints affect all districts, but they can be particularly challenging for rural districts. With the bulk of funding flowing to schools based on the number of students served, small rural districts can be disadvantaged. And small class sizes resulting from small student populations and other diseconomies of scale in rural communities drive higher costs. Prescriptive state and federal policies that impose limitations or requirements on how funds must be spent can exacerbate these constraints. And while many districts can choose to levy additional property taxes locally to fund new initiatives, in rural areas where poverty rates are high and property values are often low, increasing tax rates may not be palatable to local voters or may not generate sufficient revenue to justify an increase.

Anecdotal evidence suggests that some rural districts are adept at stretching dollars —such as having personnel perform multiple functions. But even with creative fiscal management, many rural schools find little room in school budgets to implement new initiatives, requiring school leaders and communities to contemplate difficult trade-offs in spending. These constraints prove challenging in implementing a new personalized learning model, which requires significant up-front investments in personnel and resources.

Though these barriers are not insurmountable, as demonstrated by the schools profiled for this report, policymakers and education leaders can create conditions more favorable to supporting innovation through personalized learning.

State accountability systems also evaluate schools based on students' proficiency toward gradelevel expectations, which doesn't fully capture the academic progress of students who start out far behind grade level.

Recommendations for Policymakers

o enable the growth of personalized learning in rural areas, state and local policymakers can explore a number of strategies:

1 Ensure rural districts leverage new broadband opportunities, particularly those under E-rate, by developing state grant programs and fostering partnerships between districts and service providers.

To ensure that rural schools will be able to fully leverage E-rate funding, state policymakers can designate funds to help districts pay for their expected match. In its 2016 regular session, the Alabama Legislature enacted the Alabama Ahead Act to allocate state grants to districts seeking to improve their wireless technology. Under the law, districts will be able to apply for grants to cover the matching funds they must contribute to leverage E-rate dollars. Districts that already have appropriate broadband infrastructure can still access these funds to buy devices or pay off existing debt toward wireless infrastructure purchases.⁵⁰

Many rural districts also need to upgrade to fiber infrastructure, the only technology that can scale quickly enough to meet evolving connectivity needs of most schools.⁵¹ When small local service providers lack the capacity to offer this service to schools, rural districts may have no other option but to shoulder the financial burden themselves and build their own fiber networks. States can provide funding to help cover these one-time fiber construction costs. In California the state's 2014–15 budget established the Broadband Infrastructure

When small local service providers lack the capacity to offer this service to schools, rural districts may have no other option but to shoulder the financial burden themselves and build their own fiber networks. States can provide funding to help cover these one-time fiber construction costs. Improvement Grant program to support network connectivity in eligible schools. The state solicited fiber construction bids from service providers through a Request for Proposal (RFP) process—and, thus far, 171 schools have been selected for upgrades.⁵²

States can also help ensure that rural districts leverage new opportunities under E-rate to construct their own fiber networks. In recognition of the burden that rural districts face, the FCC removed the historical cap on the amount of E-rate funding that can be allocated toward "special construction" costs—such as building fiber networks. Through funding year 2018, districts won't face an annual limit on the amount of E-rate funds they can use to construct their own fiber connections, provided they can show they don't have any affordable alternatives through local providers.⁵³ States can provide guidance to rural districts that choose to build their own fiber networks by helping them develop an RFP process, and by connecting districts to service providers in the state who have expressed an interest in building fiber networks in rural areas.

2 Develop creative solutions at the district level to ensure that students have internet access outside of school.

Even with better broadband infrastructure in place, districts and schools still need to consider how students will access the internet at home in order to fully leverage technologybased and flexible learning opportunities. In rural communities, creating a select number of community wireless hotspots won't be as effective a strategy as it is in densely populated cities. Instead, students need mobile solutions that allow them to access the internet even when they are far away from school or community hubs. One strategy is for rural districts to loan out mobile hotspot devices for the school year. Piedmont City Schools in Alabama offers Verizon MiFi hotspots to students at a discounted rate of \$15 per month.⁵⁴

Other districts have upgraded their school buses to be wireless-enabled so that students have internet access during long bus rides to and from school, and so that the buses themselves can act as community hotspots. Eminence Independent Schools, a 700-student school district in rural Kentucky, parks wireless-enabled school buses in low-income apartment complexes in the evening.⁵⁵ And in southern California, Coachella Valley Unified School District sends out school buses equipped with wireless routers to various neighborhoods where students live. For students living farther out in very rural areas, the district will allow them to check out mobile hotspots. "Connectivity should not stop at the school door. … We want to move our students into the category of 'haves' from 'have nots' with our technology initiatives," emphasizes Coachella superintendent Darryl Adams.⁵⁶

And schools can ensure that low-income families in rural communities are aware of subsidies available through the FCC's Lifeline program to offset the cost of high-speed home internet connections (see sidebar, The Federal Communication Commission's Programs to Bridge the Digital Divide).

Other districts have upgraded their school buses to be wirelessenabled so that students have internet access during long bus rides to and from school, and so that the buses themselves can act as community hotspots.

3 Form rural consortia so that multiple school districts can share or pool resources.

Many rural districts face financial challenges due to their small size and issues of scale. For example, a district that has multiple bus routes to reach the families it serves may not have each bus filled to capacity. To address these challenges, many school districts in rural communities are sharing financial, administrative, or instructional services through partnerships or consortium agreements. To build their capacity to launch personalized learning, districts can take these partnerships one step further and share instructional tools, professional development, or even human capital resources focused on personalized learning.

The New England Secondary Schools Consortium (NESSC) offers one such example. NESSC includes nearly 500 secondary schools in Maine, Vermont, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, and Connecticut that seek to improve graduation rates, increase college-readiness, and close achievement gaps. With support from the Next Generation Learning Challenges, 20 of these schools are in the process of launching personalized learning models.⁵⁷ By sharing a resource bank of online tools, participating in regional conferences, and hosting site visits, these early adopters are committed to leveraging one another's best practices—and sharing lessons learned with other NESSC member schools.⁵⁸ "A lot of teachers might only be familiar with one school structure and way of teaching. As part of NESSC, our staff see there are other small rural schools like us in the Northeast in communities with declining populations. These schools have come up with things that worked—it helps us see the possibilities," notes Todd West, the principal of Deer Isle-Stonington High School in Maine.⁵⁹

A consortium can also be more competitive for federal and state grant opportunities relative to a single district, particularly a small rural one. In 2013 a group of rural Appalachian districts known as the Ohio Appalachian Collaborative received a \$15 million grant to expand the use of technology in the classroom.⁶⁰ By implementing both a blended learning and a dualenrollment approach with local colleges, participating schools are increasing student access to college-level coursework.⁶¹ State policymakers can encourage districts to form similar consortia through financial inducements or other types of incentives. For instance, districts that apply together for a state grant can receive additional points on their grant application if they articulate a compelling strategy for how they plan to partner together.

In addition to achieving practical outcomes, consortia help rural districts create networks of moral support. Exploring school-level innovation requires significant leadership and vision. Mark Kostin from the Great Schools Partnership—which leads NESSC—emphasizes, "If you have a network and can use examples from a context similar to yours, it becomes less lonely and compels you to stay the course longer."

Districts can take these partnerships one step further and share instructional tools, professional development, or even human capital resources focused on personalized learning.

4 Create more local flexibility for districts to make changes to traditional staffing structures.

Existing policies around teacher certification or class size requirements can be problematic in two ways: They rarely acknowledge the unique difficulties rural schools face around human capital, and they don't foster the growth of personalized learning models that redesign staffing patterns and student groupings.

For personalized learning to take hold in rural communities, policymakers should provide districts with more autonomy to develop creative staffing structures. One way states could accomplish this is by developing a waiver policy that allows districts with a clear rationale or unique constraints to have autonomy from certain staffing or class size policies. With autonomy from traditional credentialing policies, schools can better leverage adults who provide valuable instructional guidance—but who may not have a teaching certification—to students. Consider, for instance, a local employer guiding a student internship or a paraprofessional monitoring students during online learning time. And with greater flexibility around class size policies, rural school leaders can be more creative about how they group students during the school day, and make changes in a more fluid manner depending on students' needs.

5 Leverage opportunities under the new federal education law to develop innovative forms of assessment aligned to personalized learning.

The recent passage of ESSA creates a new opportunity for states to explore alternative accountability mechanisms to evaluate schools. States can now incorporate academic growth measures and computer adaptive tests into assessment and accountability systems.⁶² ESSA also created a new program called the Innovative Assessment pilot program, which will fund up to seven states or consortia of states to develop competency-based assessment systems.⁶³

States with large rural student populations could use these opportunities to develop assessment models that are more aligned not only to personalized learning models, but also to the unique needs of rural schools. States could follow the example of Idaho and Iowa, which have both developed statewide task forces around implementing competency-based education.⁶⁴

These efforts should include input from rural educators, particularly those implementing personalized learning, for feedback on the types of indicators used to measure student outcomes; pain points they face under current accountability practices; and recommendations for developing accountability systems based on high expectations and rigorous standards that are better aligned to rural contexts and personalized learning.

For personalized learning to take hold in rural communities, policymakers should provide districts with more autonomy to develop creative staffing structures.

Recommendations for Rural School and District Leadership

he look and feel of personalized learning models will vary across the rural context. However, among rural school and district leaders interviewed for this paper, a few common themes and recommendations emerged.

1 Have a clear rationale for adopting personalized learning.

Before implementing personalized learning, school and district leaders should consider the challenges they currently face and the ways that personalized learning will help them address specific gaps. Rather than taking on personalized learning because it's the "new and shiny" trend within education innovation, rural practitioners should articulate achievable objectives for this work. For instance, they may want to increase the percent of students who have access to college coursework within five years, achieve faster student academic growth on state assessments, or increase students' learning opportunities with local employers.

2 Engage the broader community on the ways in which personalized learning can support student learning and community needs.

Rural practitioners should carefully consider how to approach getting buy-in from educators and families of the students they serve. Policy change alone may not shift people's perceptions or lead to broader change management. Even if parents believe that personalized learning could open up opportunities for their children, they may feel resistant to the potential costs or tradeoffs involved in implementing a new instructional model.

Rather than taking on personalized learning because it's the "new and shiny" trend within education innovation, rural practitioners should articulate achievable objectives for this work. Keara Duggan at Education Elements observes, "Because rural communities tend to be much more connected, people are very aware when tradeoffs are made—if part of a school's budget has to be reallocated from field trips toward purchasing devices, parents notice. There needs to be a clear vision for why a school is moving in the direction of personalized learning and why it is an important investment of time and resources."⁶⁵

One way to gain community buy-in is to tie student learning to a local community's economic and workforce needs. NESSC's Mark Kostin believes that Deer Isle-Stonington High School has made great progress in developing a shared economic vision with the broader Deer Isle community. "The community was concerned with economic sustainability, and that's where they found common ground. People were saying, 'We need to make sure kids are not just prepped to become lobstermen, but also to run their own lobster businesses.'" Todd West, who leads the personalized learning efforts at Deer Isle-Stonington, reflects, "The vision of what people wanted for our school was often best held by parents and community partners. We made sure to engage them from the start."⁶⁶ To develop the learning pathways—including the one on marine studies—at his school, West formed design teams that included teachers and community leader partners. Parents and students were also invited to design meetings to provide their input.

3 Support teachers in their work to implement personalized learning while also providing them with ample ownership.

Because personalized learning is still a new concept in rural communities, teachers will need significant support to learn about and implement personalized learning. Schools and districts should think about ways to provide additional professional development, whether that's through an increase in the actual hours or days of professional development or through more flexibility around the types of professional development opportunities teachers can leverage.

In addition to providing high-quality training, districts can create new coaching or leadership roles for teachers who are especially committed to personalized learning. Uinta County School District #1 in Wyoming created two new roles to support its personalized learning efforts in recent years. A "blended learning coach," who previously taught middle school English in the district, now works full time to support blended learning implementation across the district. And within each school there are "blended learning leads," current classroom teachers who lead school-wide trainings and one-on-one coaching sessions with their peers to help them adopt blended learning models. While a centralized support system for teachers can help foster the growth of personalized learning, teachers should also have autonomy to customize their personalized learning strategy to achieve their specific objectives. While a centralized support system for teachers can help foster the growth of personalized learning, teachers should also have autonomy to customize their personalized learning strategy to achieve their specific objectives. Akin, the superintendent of Piedmont City Schools, notes, "We provide the structure—a rotational model, for example—but then give teachers the flexibility to design within that structure."⁶⁷ Because personalized learning is a framework, rather than a prescriptive method, it can look quite different across subjects, grade levels, and communities. By providing teachers with ownership over this work and the time to do it, schools and districts can help maximize the potential for authentic staff buy-in and for personalized learning to most effectively meet students' needs.

Conclusion

Some common components of personalized learning models—particularly online or distance learning—have long been part of rural schools' strategies for expanding opportunities for students. But few rural schools fully leverage a personalized learning model that integrates all its core components and reimagines the overall instructional approach. Though personalized learning is not a panacea to the educational challenges of rural districts, early research from urban districts where personalized learning has a longer track record shows promise in advancing student achievement and addressing many of the challenges common to urban and rural schools around achievement gaps and student engagement. Plus, some of the features of personalized learning, such as flexible staffing and learning environments, could address some persistent practical challenges many rural schools face around human capital and infrastructure.

But to be successful at implementing personalized learning, rural educators and communities must fully understand and support fundamental changes to instructional delivery and embrace the opportunity to radically alter what school looks like for students. All of the school leaders implementing personalized learning in rural schools who are highlighted in this report emphasized that these changes are hard and require tremendous commitment from staff. School and district leaders must invest significant resources in supporting teachers as they implement a model customized to the needs of students that may be very different from the way they are accustomed to delivering or even thinking about instruction.

States can support these innovations by creating and supporting collaborative efforts among rural schools and districts, both to share experiences and pool resources. And states can offer other supports through infrastructure investments to allow for full integration of technology-based tools in schools and in students' homes and by enabling flexible staffing and scheduling to ease the realization of personalized learning models.

Rural schools are no strangers to innovation. The realities of limited budgets, human capital constraints, and challenging geographies can breed creative problem-solving in small, tight-knit communities. In this way, the flexible and adaptable nature of personalized learning, which ideally molds to fit the student rather than asking the student to fit the school, reflects the self-determined ethos of the rural character itself, underscoring what can be possible for rural students and communities.

Early Rural Adopters of Personalized Learning Case Study: Uinta County School District #1, Wyoming

Uinta County School District #1 (UCSD #1) is located in southwest Wyoming and serves about 2,800 students, 45 percent of whom are eligible for free or reduced-price lunch.⁶⁸ The district comprises eight schools, including four elementary schools, two middle schools, one senior high school, and one combined alternative junior and senior high school.⁶⁹ The district reported revenues of about \$17,300 per student for the 2011–12 school year.

- 8 schools serving 2,854 students
- 46 percent of students are eligible for free or reduced price lunch



Background and Impetus for Adopting Personalized Learning

Over a period of several years, evidence amassed that students in Uinta were neither thriving in the K-12 school system nor achieving postsecondary success. According to district leaders, Wyoming's state accountability system showed that students weren't achieving academic growth at expected levels, and among those who attended college, persistence rates were low. Former superintendent John Bailey points out that Wyoming has few in-state institutions of higher education, requiring students to compete for out-ofstate slots in four-year colleges and to contemplate going far from home for college. These conditions make college a more costly and daunting prospect for students and families. But the local economy, largely based in the energy industry, is suffering from price fluctuations in that market, which limits job opportunities within the community.

At the same time, district leadership realized that UCSD #1 was not integrating technology into the classroom effectively, although access to technology infrastructure and devices was prevalent. Wyoming is unusual in that the state provides high-speed broadband to

schools. And UCSD #1 had invested significantly in hardware, including laptops and tablets for students. What the district lacked, however, was a strategic vision for how technology could be used to improve students' educational experiences.

Recognizing the technological assets of the district and the big challenges faced by its students, district leaders began exploring personalized learning with two goals in mind:

- Increase the level and pace of growth in student achievement
- Help students become more self-determined, a skill set school leaders believed would enable UCSD #1's graduates to be more successful in college

Implementation Strategy for Personalized Learning Model

Partnering with Education Elements, a private consulting firm that supports schools implementing personalized learning, Uinta began with an in-service presentation to the entire staff to demonstrate blended learning models and spent several weeks promoting and educating staff on the potential for integrating technology to serve students. Following that effort, the district announced a four-year roll-out plan for personalized learning and allowed interested teachers to opt in. Implementation began in spring 2013 with a cohort of 56 of the district's 256 teachers across elementary, middle, and high school grades. Education Elements trained these year-one teachers that spring and summer, while school leaders engaged in community outreach, educating parents and generating buy-in for the transition to a new instructional model.

Since that first cohort, teachers have led the design of personalized learning models for their classrooms based on the needs of their students and with support from personalized learning coaches in each school building. Building-level coaches and lead teachers run the program and own the process.

Key Lessons and Challenges

Personalized learning must be defined beyond technology.

Early in implementation, teachers were primarily defining personalized learning as the integration of technology, but not thinking much beyond that aspect. In an effort to move to a more holistic view of personalized learning, after the first year, the district took a group to the iNACOL conference to learn and engage in a process of defining personalized learning for themselves. As a group they came up with an "Innovation Configuration" based on four elements of personalized learning: small group instruction, use of integrated digital tools, data-driven decision-making, and student reflection and goal setting. They collectively determined that the presence of these four elements constituted a personalized learning space.
Instructional design must be centered on students and not tools.

In the early days, the focus was on choosing the model first and developing instruction around it. District leaders realized that they needed instead to start by identifying the specific challenge that students or teachers were facing, such as lack of student motivation, and then develop the instructional model around addressing that challenge.

The district needs to select and support the right digital tools.

Choosing effective digital tools has also been a challenge. In the first year, the district hosted a vendor fair and allowed teachers to select any products they wanted, resulting in a patchwork of products across the district that was difficult to support. In the second year, the district narrowed the choices to a defined set of foundational and supplemental products, while still allowing teachers to make a case for separate products based on student needs and learning objectives. Despite this more streamlined approach, product selection remains a problem. Former superintendent Bailey cited a lack of research-backed resources and the lack of tools well suited for secondary schools as particularly difficult barriers.

The Future of Personalized Learning in Uinta

Uinta is still in the midst of its four-year roll-out plan, with more teachers adopting personalized learning each year. So far, the district hasn't seen significant improvements on student growth outcomes on state assessments or the NWEA, but it is early. And both designing for and measuring improvement on the other primary goal, students' independence and self-direction, remains a work in progress.

Early Rural Adopters of Personalized Learning Case Study: Piedmont City Schools, Alabama

Located in northern Alabama near the Alabama-Georgia state line, Piedmont City School District serves about 1,200 students in three schools (an elementary, a middle, and a high school). About two-thirds of Piedmont's students are eligible for free and reduced-price lunch, and the district reported total revenues of \$8,534 per student for the 2011–12 school year.^{70 71}

- 3 schools serving 1,235 students
- 61 percent of students are eligible for free or reduced price lunch



Background and Impetus for Adopting Personalized Learning

Led by a superintendent with a background in computer technology and a technology director whose foresight had resulted in smart infrastructure decisions, Piedmont was poised to successfully shift to a one-to-one student-to-device model. Technology-based instruction was being used narrowly in the district, primarily to remediate students off track for graduation. And faced with a specific human capital challenge resulting from the loss of a foreign language teacher, Piedmont began experimenting with online learning options as a means to provide students' access to a broader array of course options. After seeing success with that effort, district leaders began exploring ways that technology could be integrated in the regular instructional program and extended beyond remediation to meet a broader set of instructional needs, particularly where the district faced the human capital constraints of a small, rural district.

The key goal for implementing personalized learning in Piedmont is to produce 1.5 years of learning gains per year for students. The bigger picture aim is to expand opportunities for students after high school so that Piedmont students have access to the same opportunities

as students in larger communities, like nearby Huntsville. And with limited local job prospects for high school graduates, school leaders hope the program will enable students to engage in more dual enrollment and other post-secondary opportunities earlier, both to demonstrate to the students themselves that they are fully capable of college-level work and to make college more affordable.

Implementation Strategy for Personalized Learning Model

Piedmont students had long been engaged in project-based learning, using devices to connect to research and experts in the fields they were studying, but one challenge the district faced was connectivity at home. The Piedmont community has a high poverty rate, and home access to high-speed broadband is not universal. The district focused on solving this issue—initially leveraging federal grant funds to provide home access. When that grant ended, the district participated in a federal E-rate pilot program to partner with the city to build a wireless network throughout the city and to fund Verizon MiFi cards for students outside the network. The Verizon model emerged as the more cost effective for the long term, and currently the district provides MiFi devices to students for a low monthly fee. Superintendent Matt Akin cites the expansion of home broadband access as a key turning point in implementing personalized learning.

Piedmont opted to start its personalized learning implementation in middle school to take advantage of prior training and experience among middle school teachers with small group instruction, which was lacking among high school teachers. Piedmont allows teachers to drive the specifics of implementation of personalized learning in their classrooms. So the exact model looks different from classroom to classroom, and the district provides support with release time for professional development based on the teacher's assessment of development needs.

As the district gains experience with the model, it is being integrated into elementary and high school grades on a cohort basis. Though personalized learning is not fully implemented across the district, some common elements are present even where true personalized learning is not yet happening. For instance, all high school students currently take at least one online course, and the high school schedule has been modified to accommodate the implementation of personalized learning. Opening up the school schedule has enabled the high school to offer six-week mini-courses in topics such as hunter safety that engage students and foster their connection with the school.

Key Lessons and Challenges

Assessment requirements pose an ongoing challenge to competency-based progression. Early in implementation, like many districts interested in personalized learning models, Piedmont struggled with seat time requirements. A change in state policy has eased that struggle, but state assessment requirements still pose a challenge. Students in Piedmont's personalized learning environments progress through their studies based on competency and not according to a schedule, which creates potential misalignment between what students are actually studying and traditional grade-level assessments. With a stated goal of accelerating learning beyond a single year's learning gain, the program goals are inherently misaligned with the current assessment structure.

Buy-in is essential for personalized learning in the school and the larger community. Superintendent Akin emphasized that even with teacher buy-in, personalized learning is hard to implement and requires a tremendous commitment from staff. School leaders must articulate a clear rationale and goal for transitioning to a personalized learning model and provide teachers with sufficient support in revamping instructional practices. And community engagement has been a critical part of the implementation of personalized learning. Superintendent Akin indicated that while rural parents want the best for their kids, there may be reluctance to do anything perceived as encouraging students to leave the community after graduation. Easing these worries among Piedmont families has required emphasizing the bleak economic reality of Piedmont for many students, as well as highlighting the potential that improved educational outcomes and opportunities represent for students and for the community.

Early Rural Adopters of Personalized Learning Case Study: Deer Isle-Stonington County School District, Maine

Deer Isle-Stonington CSD serves just over 300 students in two schools (grades K to 12) located on the coast of Maine. With about 40 percent of all students eligible for free or reduced-price lunch, Deer Isle-Stonington reported total revenues of \$22,361 per student for the 2011–12 school year.⁷²

- 2 schools serving 323 students
- 38 percent of students are eligible for free or reduced price lunch



Background and Impetus for Adopting Personalized Learning

In the early 2000s, Deer Isle-Stonington High School struggled with graduation rates among the lowest in the state—just 57 percent in 2009, down from a historical trend that had hovered in the 70 percent range. And the dropout rate was high, with students leaving to work in the lucrative fishing industry. Deer Isle-Stonington CSD is an isolated rural district on the coast of Maine seated in a community that has a long history in the fishing industry, where people have traditionally been able to make a good living without extensive formal education. School leaders felt that many students failed to see much relevance in what they were learning in school, and the community began expressing a sense that the high school was failing to provide value to students, families, and taxpayers.

Todd West, a relatively new principal at the time, was discouraged by progress under a traditional comprehensive high school model. In spite of hard work among the 16 teachers in the school, they weren't seeing dramatic gains. Looking around, they saw strengths in the community—a fishing industry that brought values and skills, a vibrant arts community, and inquisitive and hard-working students whose talents weren't being tapped in the school setting. Working with the community, the school decided to change its approach and implement a personalized learning model.

They wanted every student to graduate prepared for college or career and have a lifelonglearning mindset. And they were willing to change anything about school and instruction that needed changing to help students move closer to those goals.

Implementation Strategy for Personalized Learning Model

Step one in the implementation process involved showing staff what was possible in a rural school. By participating in the NESSC's high school redesign conference, school staff saw other small rural schools serving similar student populations doing innovative things. Those models helped Deer Isle-Stonington's teachers gain a vision of what was possible and an understanding of how it could work in a small school setting.

Deer Isle-Stonington's chosen model depends on learning "pathways" that focus on curriculum, project-based and community-based learning opportunities, and student performance evaluation around a central unifying topic that crosses subject areas. Currently, the district has implemented a marine studies and an arts pathway, tapping into community resources, and plans to implement a health care pathway down the line. The development of each pathway was supported by a core design team comprising teachers and community partners who also engaged parents and students. Pathways teachers received stipends for additional professional development and support from instructional coaches with expertise in personalized and proficiency-based learning. Coaching time was used for curriculum design, instruction in developing project-based learning models, and classroom management strategies adapted to flexible and field-based learning environments. In addition to professional development and support embedded in the school year, the school hosted five-day summer institutes and retained support from the facilitators of those sessions through the school year.

Technology, a mainstay of many personalized learning models, does not feature prominently in the Deer Isle-Stonington model at this time. Software-based learning supports foreign language instruction and remediation and credit recovery. But to date, technology is not an integrated part of the personalized approach, in spite of the school being a one-to-one school where all students have had iPads for several years. While Principal West certainly sees the potential for technology in accessing broader resources—particularly given the school's remote location—the school's capacity to support an integrated approach to technology hasn't allowed it to take hold.

Deer Isle-Stonington's personalized learning model is just a few years into implementation, and Principal West isn't thinking about next steps yet. He wants to see success with their model first. He points to progress during high school of the most recent graduating class, whose early indicators (NWEA and the 10th-grade PSAT) were grim. Though that class graduated with the lowest state test scores in five years, West indicates that compared to where they were, they achieved remarkable growth. And he cites the retention of students who indicated in middle school that they planned to drop out at 16. Graduation rates are up significantly—91 percent in 2013. And dropouts have fallen from 17 in 2009 to three in 2013.

Though there is still work to be done, West indicates that from listening to stories students and parents reporting higher levels of engagement and seeing real relevance in their education—he feels that progress is being made.

Key Lessons and Challenges

Staff capacity has been and remains a significant challenge in a small, remote school. The biggest challenge to implementing a personalized learning model in Deer Isle-Stonington has been staff capacity. With only 16 teachers on staff and the isolated and remote nature of the community, accessing support and recruiting qualified teachers to fill vacancies is a significant challenge. The nearest college is more than an hour away, and the nearest high school is a private school half an hour away. Implementing a new instructional model is a huge undertaking for any staff, much less one so small and with limited access to resources.

Complex public grant processes create barriers for small districts in cultivating resources to support implementation.

For a school with a central office of three people, onerous grant requirements pose a challenge and are one reason why Deer Isle-Stonington has opted to pursue private, rather than public government grants. Since the requirements for implementation and reporting for most state and federal grants are the same regardless of school or district size, the value of the time and effort required to apply for grants and support reporting outweighs the level of financial support provided.

Endnotes

- 1 Mario Moretto, "Deer Isle-Stonington High School Improves from 57% Graduation Rate to 94%," Bangor Daily News, February 7, 2013, accessed May 19, 2016, http://bangordailynews.com/2013/02/07/news/hancock/ improvements-at-deer-isle-stonington-high-school-more-than-a-one-year-blip/
- 2 Todd West interview.
- 3 "Table A.1.a.-4, Percentage Distribution of Enrollment in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools, by School Urban-Centric 12-Category Locale and State or Jurisdiction," National Center for Education Statistics, Rural Education in America, fall 2013, http://nces.ed.gov/surveys/ruraled/tables/a.1.a.-4.asp
- 4 Lionel J. Beaulieu and Robert Gibbs, ed., "The Role of Education: Promoting the Economic and Social Vitality of Rural America," Southern Rural Development Center, January 2005, http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ ED493383.pdf

Doris Terry Williams, "The Rural Solution: How Community Schools Can Reinvigorate Rural Education," Center for American Progress, September 2010, https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/ issues/2010/09/pdf/ruralschools.pdf

Sam Redding and Herbert J. Walberg, "Promoting Learning in Rural Schools," Center on Innovation & Improvement, 2012, http://www.adi.org/about/downloads/Promoting_Learning_in_Rural_Schools.pdf

- 5 "The U.S. School Transportation System Is Massive," The Rural School and Community Trust, last updated January 27, 2012, http://www.ruraledu.org/articles.php?id=2832; Aimee Howley and Craig Howley, "Rural School Busing," ERIC Clearinghouse on Rural Education and Small Schools, 2001, http://www.ericdigests. org/2002-3/busing.htm
- 6 Benjamin Herold, "The Slowest Internet in Mississippi," *Education Week*, November 19, 2015, http://www.edweek.org/ew/projects/2015/rural-schools-broadband/the-slowest-internet-in-mississippi.html
- 7 David H. Monk, "Recruiting and Retaining High-Quality Teachers in Rural Areas," *The Future of Children* 17 (2007), No. 1, http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ795884.pdf
- 8 Luke Currie Miller, "Valuing Place: Understanding the Role of Community Amenities in Rural Teacher Labor Markets" (PhD diss., Stanford University, 2008), http://gradworks.umi.com/33/32/3332886.html Madeleine Cummings, "How to Attract Teachers to Poor, Rural Schools," *Slate*, March 13, 2015, http://www. slate.com/blogs/schooled/2015/03/13/teacher_recruitment_poor_rural_schools_need_better_marketing.html Luke C. Miller, "Working Paper: Understanding Rural Teacher Retention and the Role of Community Amenities," Center on Education Policy and Workforce Competitiveness, 2012, http://curry.virginia.edu/ uploads/resourceLibrary/1_Miller_CEPWC_WP_Rural_Retention.pdf
- 9 Zoe A. Barley and Nancy Brigham, "Preparing Teachers to Teach in Rural Schools," U.S. Department of Education, Issues & Answers Report, No. 45 (2008), http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/central/pdf/ rel_2008045.pdf
- 10 Daniel Player, "The Supply and Demand for Rural Teachers," *Rural Opportunities Consortium of Ohio*, pg. 8, accessed May 20, 2016, http://www.rociidaho.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/ROCI_2015_ RuralTeachers_FINAL.pdf
- 11 "NAEP Data Explorer," NCES, http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/naepdata/
- 12 Suzanne E. Graham, "Students in Rural Schools Have Limited Access to Advanced Mathematics Courses," Carsey Institute, Issue Brief No. 7 (2009), http://scholars.unh.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1088&context =carsey; Jennifer Schiess and Andrew J. Rotherham, "Big Country: How Variations in High School Graduation Plans Impact Rural Students," Rural Opportunities Consortium of Idaho, October 2015, http://www. rociidaho.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/ROCI_HSRigor_Final.pdf
- 13 Douglas J. Gagnon and Marybeth J. Mattingly, "Limited Access to AP Courses for Students in Smaller and More Isolated Rural School Districts," Carsey Research, National Issue Brief 80 (2015), http://scholars.unh. edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1234&context=carsey

- 14 "Table B.3.a.-1: Average Freshman Graduation Rate for High School Students, by Locale," NCES, Rural Education in America, 2009–2010, https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/ruraled/tables/b.3.a.-1.asp. More recent data from the 2013–14 school year show that states with large populations of rural students—such as Vermont and Iowa—have some of the highest graduation rates in the country. Jackie Mader, "Rural States Post High Grad Rates, Native Rates Stagnant," *Education Week*, December 16, 2015, http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/ rural_education/2015/12/rural_states_post_high_grad_rates_native_rates_stagnant.html "Table 1: Public High School 4-Year Adjusted Cohort Graduation Rate," NCES, 2013–2014, http://nces.ed.gov/ ccd/tables/ACGR_RE_and_characteristics_2013-14.asp#f1
- 15 Paul T. Hill, "Breaking New Ground in Rural Education," ROCI, November 2014, http://www.rociidaho.org/ wp-content/uploads/2015/01/ROCI_2014NewGround_FINAL_0115.pdf
- 16 "High School Benchmarks 2013: National College Progression Rates," National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2013, http://nscresearchcenter.org/hsbenchmarks2013/
- 17 Judith L. Meece et al., "Preparing for Adulthood: A Recent Examination of the Alignment of Rural Youth's Future Educational and Vocational Aspirations," *Journal of Educational and Developmental Psychology* 3 (2013), No. 2, http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/jedp/article/view/31348/18330
- 18 USDA brief and Terry Ryan, "Rural Innovators in Education: How Can We Build on What They Are Doing?," ROCI, May 2015, http://www.rociidaho.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/ROCI_RuralInnovators_Final.pdf
- 19 Matt Akin interview.
- 20 "Rural America at a Glance," USDA Economic Information Bulletin 145, revised January 2016, http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/1952235/eib145.pdf
- 21 Patrick J. Carr and Maria J. Kefalas, Hollowing Out the Middle: The Rural Brain Drain and What It Means for America (Boston: Beacon Press, 2009), 1–3.
- 22 Bruce O. Barker and Robert F. Hall, "Distance Education in Rural Schools: Technologies and Practice," Journal of Research in Rural Education 10 (1994), No. 2: 126–128, http://jrre.vmhost.psu.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2014/02/10-2_4.pdf
- 23 "Personalized Learning: A Working Definition," *Education Week*, August 8, 2016, http://www.edweek.org/ew/ collections/personalized-learning-special-report-2014/a-working-definition.html
- 24 John F. Pane et al., "Continued Progress: Promising Evidence on Personalized Learning," RAND Corporation and Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, November 2015, http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/ research_reports/RR1300/RR1365/RAND_RR1365.pdf
- 25 Brad Bernatek et al., "Blended Learning in Practice: Case Studies from Leading Schools, featuring KIPP Empower Academy," Michael & Susan Dell Foundation and FSG, September 2012, http://5a03f68e230384a218e0-938ec019df699e606c950a5614b999bd.r33.cf2.rackcdn.com/Blended_ Learning_Kipp_083012.pdf Brad Bernatek et al., "Blended Learning in Practice: Case Studies from Leading Schools, featuring Summit Public Schools," Michael & Susan Dell Foundation and FSG, September 2012, http://5a03f68e230384a218e0-938ec019df699e606c950a5614b999bd.r33.cf2.rackcdn.com/Blended_ Learning_Summit_083012.pdf Brad Bernatek et al., "Blended Learning in Practice: Case Studies from Leading Schools, featuring Alliance College-Ready Public Schools," Michael & Susan Dell Foundation and FSG, September 2012, http://5a03f68e230384a218e0-938ec019df699e606c950a5614b999bd.r33.cf2.rackcdn.com/Blended_ Learning_Summit_083012.pdf
- 26 "Piedmont Middle School: Blended Program," Blended Learning Universe, Clayton Christensen Institute, http://www.blendedlearning.org/directory/schools/piedmont-middle-school#tab_program7434
- 27 "Leading in an Era of Change: On the Ground," Foundation for Excellence in Education and EducationCounsel, July 2015, http://www.excelined.org/2015CourseAccessWhitePaper/offline/download.pdf
- 28 Todd West interview.
- 29 Sam Dillon, "In Rural Utah, Students' School Day Stretches to 12 Hours (With 4 on the Bus)," The New York Times, May 28, 2004, accessed May 20, 2016, http://www.nytimes.com/2004/05/28/us/in-rural-utahstudents-school-day-stretches-to-12-hours-with-4-on-the-bus.html?_r=0
- 30 Nina Thomas et al., "Dual Credit and Exam-Based Courses in U.S. Public High Schools: 2010–11," U.S. Department of Education, NCES, February 2013, http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013001.pdf
- 31 Matt Akin interview.

- 32 James Bailey interview.
- 33 Matt Akin interview.
- 34 Rachel Monahan, "School Choice on Steroids," The Atlantic, August 20, 2015, http://www.theatlantic.com/ education/archive/2015/08/course-choice-like-school-choice-steroids/401861/
- 35 "2015 State of the States: A Report on the State of Broadband Connectivity in America's Public Schools," EducationSuperHighway, 2015, p. 14, http://stateofthestates.educationsuperhighway.org/assets/sos/full_ report-55ba0a64dcae0611b15ba9960429d323e2eadbac5a67a0b369bedbb8cf15ddbb.pdf
- 36 "2015 State of the States," report highlights, EducationSuperHighway, http://stateofthestates. educationsuperhighway.org/
- 37 Nell Hurley interview.
- 38 "Annual E-Rate and Infrastructure Survey," CoSN, AASA, and MDR, 2015, http://cosn.org/sites/default/files/ pdf/CoSN_3rd_Annual_Survey_Oct15_FINALV2.pdf
- 39 Benjamin Herold, "Districts Get Creative to Build Faster Internet Connections," *Education Week*, January 14, 2014, http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2014/01/15/17fiber_ep.h33.html
- 40 Benjamin Herold, "The Slowest Internet in Mississippi," *Education Week*, November 19, 2015, http://www.edweek.org/ew/projects/2015/rural-schools-broadband/the-slowest-internet-in-mississippi.html
- 41 According to a 2015 analysis from EducationSuperHighway, the E-rate program on average covers 70 percent of connectivity costs for school districts. See "2015 State of the States," http://stateofthestates. educationsuperhighway.org/assets/sos/full_report-55ba0a64dcae0611b15ba9960429d323e2eadbac5a67a 0b369bedbb8cf15ddbb.pdf
- 42 Tim Lockette, "Alabama House Approves Money for Wireless Networks in More Schools," *The Anniston Star*, February 23, 2016, http://www.annistonstar.com/news/alabama-house-approves-money-for-wirelessnetworks-in-more-schools/article_a24954a8-da96-11e5-bdb0-47c5cadcfe14.html
- 43 John B. Horrigan and Maeve Duggan, "Home Broadband 2015," Pew Research Center, December 21, 2015, http://www.pewinternet.org/files/2015/12/Broadband-adoption-full.pdf
- 44 Lior Weiss, "The Connected City and the Future of Free Wi-Fi," Wired, June 2014, http://www.wired.com/ insights/2014/06/connected-city-future-free-wi-fi/; Timothy Inklebarger, "Bridging the Tech Gap," American Libraries, September 11, 2015, http://americanlibrariesmagazine.org/2015/09/11/bridging-tech-gap-wi-filending/
- 45 Keara Duggan interview.
- 46 Keara Duggan interview.
- 47 John Fischer interview.
- 48 "Performance-based assessments" refers to assessment formats that require students to demonstrate knowledge through its practical use or application. "Unlike a traditional standardized test in which students select one of the responses provided, a performance assessment requires students to perform a task or generate their own responses. For example, a performance task in writing would require students to actually produce a piece of writing rather than answering a series of multiple-choice questions about grammar or the structure of a paragraph. Performance assessment is authentic when it mimics the kind of work that is done in real-world contexts. For example, an authentic performance task in environmental science might require a student to conduct research on the impacts of fertilizer on local groundwater and then report the results to the public through a public service announcement or informational brochure." Source: "What Is Performance-Based Assessment?" *Stanford SRN Informational Booklet*, School Redesign Network of Stanford University, accessed May 20, 2016, https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/events/materials/2011-06-linked-learning-performance-based-assessment.pdf
- 49 Karen Cator interview.
- 50 House Bill 41, Alabama Legislature, Regular Session, 2016, accessed May 20, 2016, http://alisondb. legislature.state.al.us/alison/SESSBillStatusResult.ASPX?BILL=HB41&WIN_TYPE=BillResult
- 51 92 percent of schools will need access to fiber; other schools with under 100 students may be able to continue using cable modem connections. "2015 State of the States," EducationSuperHighway, http://cdn.educationsuperhighway.org/assets/sos/full_report-c2e60c6937930e8ca5cdbf49d45d45c8.pdf
- 52 "2015 State of the States," report highlights, EducationSuperHighway, http://stateofthestates.educationsuperhighway.org/

- 53 "Summary of the Second E-rate Modernization Order," Federal Communications Commission, https://www.fcc.gov/general/summary-second-e-rate-modernization-order
- 54 "Piedmont City School District," Digital Promise, http://www.digitalpromise.org/districts/piedmont-cityschool-district
- 55 Karen Johnson, "For Internet Access, Hop on the Bus—and Discover What Really Prevents Teachers from Using Digital Tools," EdSurge, March 1, 2016, https://www.edsurge.com/news/2016-03-01-for-internet-access-hop-on-the-bus-and-discover-what-really-prevents-teachers-from-using-digital-tools
- 56 Blake Montgomery, "Are Low-Income Families Connecting to the Internet? Yes, But Not Easily, Survey Finds," EdSurge, February 3, 2016, https://www.edsurge.com/news/2016-02-03-are-low-income-familiesconnecting-to-the-internet-yes-but-not-easily-survey-finds
- 57 "Grant Opportunities: New England Secondary School Consortium," Next Generation Learning Challenges, http://nextgenlearning.org/new-england-secondary-school-consortium; Blythe Armitage, "Regional Network Selects Twenty New England Public Schools to Participate in New Personalized Learning Initiative," Great Schools Partnership, March 17, 2015, http://www.greatschoolspartnership.org/regional-network-selectstwenty-new-england-public-schools-participate-new-personalized-learning-initiative/
- 58 "Personalized Learning at Scale: Case Studies of Leading Cities," Education Cities, November 26, 2014, http://education-cities.org/wp-content/uploads/EC_PL_leading-cities-case-studies.pdf
- 59 Todd West interview.
- 60 "2014 Straight A Grant Winners," Ohio Department of Education, http://education.ohio.gov/Topics/Straight-A-Fund/Past-Grant-Awardess/Straight-A-Grant-Winners/2014-Straight-A-Grant-Winners and "Technology for Learning," Ohio Department of Education, http://education.ohio.gov/Topics/Straight-A-Fund/Past-Grant-Awardess/Categories/Technology-for-Learning
- 61 "OAC Straight A Grant," Ohio Appalachian Collaborative, http://portal.battelleforkids.org/OAC/archivepages/our-initiatives/oac-straight-a-grant
- 62 Every Student Succeeds Act, S. 1177, 114th Cong., 1st sess., 2015, https://www.congress.gov/114/bills/ s1177/BILLS-114s1177enr.pdf
- 63 Lillian Pace, "Innovative Assessments Earn First Class Seat in Senate's K–12 Education Bill," KnowledgeWorks, July 10, 2015, http://knowledgeworks.org/worldoflearning/innovative-assessmentseducation-bill/
- 64 Susan Gentz, "Competency-Based Education Task Forces: A State Policy Mechanism to Foster Personalized Learning by Creating Dialog, Surfacing Barriers and Providing Solutions," International Association for K-12 Online Learning, March 23, 2016, http://www.inacol.org/news/competency-based-education-task-forces-astate-policy-mechanism-to-foster-personalized-learning-by-creating-dialog-surfacing-barriers-and-providing-solutions/
- 65 Keara Duggan interview.
- 66 Todd West interview.
- 67 Matt Akin interview.
- 68 Uinta County School District #1, District Directory Information, 2014–2015, National Center for Education Statistics, http://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/district_detail.asp?Search=1&InstName=uinta&State=56&C ounty=uinta&DistrictType=1&DistrictType=2&DistrictType=3&DistrictType=4&DistrictType=5&DistrictType=6&DistrictType=7&DistrictType=8&NumOfStudentsRange=more&NumOfSchoolsRange=more&ID2=5 602760&details=
- 69 Horizon Jr/Sr High School, http://hhs.uinta1.com/
- 70 "Piedmont City," District Directory Information, NCES, http://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/district_detail. asp?Search=1&InstName=Piedmont&State=01&DistrictType=1&DistrictType=2&DistrictType=3&DistrictType=3&DistrictType=4&DistrictType=5&DistrictType=6&DistrictType=7&DistrictType=8&NumOfStudentsRange=more&NumOfSchoolsRange=more&ID2=0102760&details=
- 71 "Piedmont City School District," Digital Promise, http://digitalpromise.org/district/piedmont-city-school-district/
- 72 "Deer Isle-Stonington CSD, District Directory Information, NCES," http://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/ district_detail.asp?Search=1&InstName=Deer+Isle&State=23&DistrictType=1&DistrictType=2&DistrictTyp e=3&DistrictType=4&DistrictType=5&DistrictType=6&DistrictType=7&DistrictType=8&NumOfStudentsRa nge=more&NumOfSchoolsRange=more&ID2=2304895&details=4

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation for providing funding for this paper. Special thanks to all those who contributed to its development, particularly Matt Akin, John Bailey, Karen Cator, Keara Duggan, John Fischer, Bryan Hassel, Nell Hurley, Mark Kostin, Todd West, Andy Rotherham, Sara Mead, Tanya Paperny, and Super Copy Editors and Five Line Creative. The views, analysis, and any inaccuracies in this report are the responsibility of the authors.

About the Authors



Carolyn Chuong

Carolyn Chuong is an MBA candidate at the Haas School of Business at the University of California at Berkeley. Previously, she was a senior analyst at Bellwether Education Partners.



Jennifer O'Neal Schiess

Jennifer O'Neal Schiess is a principal at Bellwether Education Partners. She can be reached at jennifer.schiess@bellwethereducation.org.



About Bellwether Education Partners

Bellwether Education Partners is a nonprofit dedicated to helping education organizations—in the public, private, and nonprofit sectors—become more effective in their work and achieve dramatic results, especially for high-need students. To do so, we provide a unique combination of exceptional thinking, talent, and hands-on strategic support.

© 2016 Bellwether Education Partners



This report carries a Creative Commons license, which permits noncommercial re-use of content when proper attribution is provided. This means you are free to copy, display and distribute this work, or include content from this report in derivative works, under the following conditions:



Attribution. You must clearly attribute the work to Bellwether Education Partners, and provide a link back to the publication at http://bellwethereducation.org/.



Noncommercial. You may not use this work for commercial purposes without explicit prior permission from Bellwether Education Partners.



Share Alike. If you alter, transform, or build upon this work, you may distribute the resulting work only under a license identical to this one.

For the full legal code of this Creative Commons license, please visit www.creativecommons.org. If you have any questions about citing or reusing Bellwether Education Partners content, please contact us.